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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

_________________________________________
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
)
)
Plaintiff,
)
)
v.
)
)
TOLEDO REFINING COMPANY LLC,
)
)
Defendant.
)
__________________________________________)

Civil Action No.

COMPLAINT
The United States of America (“United States”), by the authority of the Attorney General
and through the undersigned attorneys, acting at the request and on behalf of the Administrator
of the United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA” or “Plaintiff”), files this
Complaint and alleges as follows:
NATURE OF ACTION
1.

This is a civil action against Toledo Refining Company LLC (“TRC”) pursuant to

Section 113(b) of the Clean Air Act (“CAA”), 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b).
2.

This Complaint is for civil penalties and injunctive relief at a petroleum refinery

located in Oregon, Ohio (“Refinery” or “Toledo Refinery”) for alleged violations of the
following requirements and obligations:
a.

The New Source Performance Standards (“NSPS”) promulgated at
40 C.F.R. Part 60, Subparts A, J, Ja, VV, VVa, GGG, and GGGa, pursuant
to Section 111 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7411;

b.

The National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants
(“NESHAPs”) for Benzene Waste Operations promulgated at 40 C.F.R.
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Part 61, Subpart FF, pursuant to Section 112 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C.
§ 7412;
c.

The NESHAPs for Source Categories promulgated at 40 C.F.R. Part 63,
Subparts A, CC, and UUU, pursuant to Section 112 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C.
§ 7412;

d

The requirements of Title V of the CAA found at 42 U.S.C. §§ 7661a(a),
7661b(c), 7661c(a), and the regulations promulgated thereunder at
40 C.F.R. §§ 70.1(b), 70.5(a) and (b), 70.6(a) and (c), and 70.7(b); and

e.

The portions of the Title V permit for the Toledo Refinery that adopt,
incorporate, or implement the provisions cited in Subparagraphs 2.a – 2.c.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3.

This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331,

1345, 1355 and 1367, and Sections 113(b) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b). This Court has
personal jurisdiction over TRC, which does business in the State of Ohio and in this judicial
district.
4.

Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Section 113(b) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C.

§ 7413(b) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c) and 1395(a), because the alleged violations in this
Complaint occurred and are occurring at the Toledo Refinery which is located in this District.
Defendant has consented to venue in this District.
NOTICE
5.

On February 2, 2013, EPA issued a Finding of Violation (“February 2013 FOV”)

identifying alleged CAA violations at the Toledo Refinery. EPA’s February 2013 FOV was sent
to TRC and to the State of Ohio. A copy is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 to this Complaint.
6.

On September 30, 2013, EPA issued a Notice and Finding of Violation

(“September 2013 NOV/FOV”) identifying alleged CAA violations at the Toledo Refinery.
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EPA’s September 2013 NOV/FOV was sent to TRC and to the State of Ohio. A copy is attached
hereto as Exhibit 2 to this Complaint.
AUTHORITY
7.

The United States Department of Justice has authority to bring this action on

behalf of EPA under, inter alia, 28 U.S.C. §§ 516 and 519, and under Section 305(a) of the
CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7605(a).
DEFENDANT
8.

Defendant Toledo Refining Company LLC is a Delaware limited liability

company doing business in the State of Ohio. TRC is the owner and operator of the Toledo
Refinery within the meaning of Sections 111(a) and 112(a) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7411(a)
and 7412(a).
9.

TRC is a “person” within the meaning of Sections 113(b) and 302(e) of the CAA,

42 U.S.C. §§ 7413(b) and 7602(e), and applicable federal and state regulations promulgated
pursuant to these statutes.
STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND
I.

CLEAN AIR ACT
10.

The Clean Air Act establishes a regulatory scheme designed to protect and

enhance the quality of the nation’s air so as to promote the public health and welfare and the
productive capacity of its population. 42 U.S.C. § 7401(b)(1).
A.

NEW SOURCE PERFORMANCE STANDARDS
1.

11.

General

Section 111(b)(1)(A) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7411(b)(1)(A), requires EPA to

publish and periodically revise a list of categories of stationary sources including those
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categories that, in EPA’s judgment, cause or contribute significantly to air pollution which may
reasonably be anticipated to endanger public health or welfare.
12.

Once a category is included on the list, Section 111(b)(1)(B) of the CAA,

42 U.S.C. §7411(b)(1)(B), requires EPA to promulgate a federal standard of performance for
new sources within the category, also known as a New Source Performance Standard (“NSPS”).
Section 111(e) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7411(e), prohibits an owner or operator of a new source
from operating that source in violation of an NSPS after the effective date of the NSPS
applicable to such source.
13.

“New source” is defined as any stationary source, the construction or modification

of which is commenced after the publication of the NSPS regulations or proposed NSPS
regulations applicable to such sources. 42 U.S.C. § 7411(a)(2). “Stationary source” is defined as
a building, structure, facility, or installation which emits or may emit any air pollutant.
42 U.S.C. § 7411(a)(3).
14.

The New Source Performance Standards are located in Part 60 of Title 40 of the

Code of Federal Regulations.
2.
15.

Part 60, Subpart A: General

Pursuant to Section 111(b)(1)(B) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7411(b)(1)(B), EPA

promulgated regulations that contain general provisions applicable to all NSPS sources.
40 C.F.R. Part 60, Subpart A, §§ 60.1- 60.19 (“Subpart A”).
16.

Under Subpart A, the provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 60 “apply to the owner or

operator of any stationary source which contains an affected facility, the construction or
modification of which is commenced after the publication [in Part 60] of any standard (or, if
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earlier, the date of publication of any proposed standard) applicable to that facility.” 40 C.F.R.
§ 60.1.
17.

“Affected facility” means, with reference to a stationary source, any apparatus to

which a standard is applicable.” 40 C.F.R. § 60.2.
3.
18.

Part 60, Subpart A: 40 C.F.R. § 60.11(d)

Within Subpart A, EPA promulgated a regulation that applies at all times to all

affected facilities, including associated air pollution control equipment. Specifically, at all times,
including periods of startup, shutdown, and malfunction, owners and operators shall, to the
extent practicable, maintain and operate any affected facility including associated air pollution
control equipment in a manner consistent with good air pollution control practice for minimizing
emissions. 40 C.F.R. § 60.11(d).
4.

19.

Part 60, Subpart A: 40 C.F.R. § 60.18 (Requirements related to
Flares Used as Control Devices)

Within Subpart A, EPA promulgated specific regulations that apply whenever

flares are used as control devices. 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.18(b)–(f).
20.

Of relevance to this Complaint are the requirements that: (1) for steam-assisted

flares, the net heating value of the gas being combusted must be 300 British Thermal Units
(“BTU”) per standard cubic foot (“scf”) or greater, 40 C.F.R. § 60.18(c)(3)(ii); and (2) an owner
or operator monitor each flare to ensure that it is operated and maintained in conformance with
its design, 40 C.F.R. § 60.18(d).
5.

21.

Specific NSPS Standards: Part 60, Subparts J, Ja, VV, VVa, GGG,
and GGGa

Pursuant to Section 111(b)(1)(A) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7411(b)(1)(A), EPA

has identified, inter alia, the following as categories of stationary sources that cause, or
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contribute significantly to, air pollution that may reasonably be anticipated to endanger public
health or welfare and EPA has promulgated regulations in the following Subparts of Part 60 of
Title 40 of the Code of Federal Regulations to regulate those categories:
CATEGORY
Petroleum Refineries

Equipment Leaks of VOC in Petroleum
Refineries
Equipment Leaks of VOC in the Synthetic
Organic Chemicals Manufacturing Industry

22.

REGULATION
(40 C.F.R. Part 60)
Subpart J and Ja:
40 C.F.R. §§ 60.100 et seq.
40 C.F.R. §§ 60.100a et seq.
Subpart GGG and GGGa:
40 C.F.R. §§ 60.590–60.593
40 C.F.R. §§ 60.590a–60.593a
Subpart VV and VVa:
40 C.F.R. §§ 60.480–60.489
40 C.F.R. §§ 60.480a–60.489a

Of relevance to this Complaint, one of the “affected facilities” that Subpart J

applies to is a “fuel gas combustion device,” 40 C.F.R. § 60.100(a), including a flare, 40 C.F.R.
§ 60.101(g), which commenced construction, reconstruction, or modification after June 11, 1973.
Flares are likewise “affected facilities” under Subpart Ja. 40 C.F.R. § 60.100a(a).
23.

Under Subparts J and Ja, an owner or operator of a flare that is an affected facility

is prohibited from burning any fuel gas in the flare that contains H2S in excess of 230 milligrams
per dry standard cubic meter (approximately 162 ppm), unless certain exceptions apply.
40 C.F.R. §§ 60.104(a)(1), 60.103a(h).
24.

Under Subparts J and Ja, an owner or operator of a flare that is an affected facility

is required to install, calibrate, operate, and maintain an instrument for continuously monitoring
and recording the concentration (dry basis) of H2S in the fuel gases before being burned in any
flare. 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.105(a)(4), 60.107a(a)(2).
25.

Of relevance to this Complaint, the affected facilities that Subparts GGG and

GGGa apply to are compressors and all “equipment” within a process unit at a petroleum
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refinery. 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.590(a), 60.590a(a). “Equipment” means each valve, pump, pressure
relief device, sampling connection system, open-ended valve or line, and flange or other
connector in VOC service. 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.591, 60.591a.
26.

In all respects relevant to this Complaint, each owner or operator of a petroleum

refinery that is subject to the requirements of Subparts GGG and GGGa is required to comply
with the standards of Subparts VV and VVa, respectively. 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.592, 60.592a.
27.

Of relevance to this Complaint, the affected facilities that Subparts VV and VVa

apply to are all “equipment” within a process unit at a synthetic organic chemicals manufacturing
facility. 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.480(a)(2), 60.482a(a)(2). “Equipment” means each pump, compressor,
sampling connection system, open-ended valve or line, valve, and flange or other connector in
VOC service. 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.481, 60.481a.
28.

Under Subparts VV and VVa—and therefore, under GGG and GGGa—each

owner or operator who uses a flare as a control device to comply with the requirements of
Subparts VV and VVa must also comply with the requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 60.18. 40 C.F.R.
§§ 60.482-10(d), 60.482-10a(d).
29.

Under Subparts VV and VVa—and therefore, under GGG and GGGa—each

owner or operator of any control device used to comply with the requirements of Subparts VV
and VVa must monitor the control device to ensure that it is operated and maintained in
conformance with its design. 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.482-10(e), 60.482-10a(e).
30.

Subparts VV and VVa—and therefore, GGG and GGGa—generally require

owners and operators to monitor equipment for leaks and to repair the equipment if the leaks are
greater than specified regulatory thresholds.
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31.

With certain alternatives and exceptions not relevant here, an owner or operator

subject to Subparts VV and VVa is required to monitor valves in gas/vapor and light liquid
service (“valves”) and pumps by the method specified in 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.485(b), 60.485a(b). 40
C.F.R. §§ 60.482-7(a)(1); 60.482-7a(a)(1); 60.482-2(a)(1); 60.482-2a(a)(1).
32.

40 C.F.R. §§ 60.485(b), 60.485a(b), in turn, require each owner or operator to

comply with the monitoring procedures and requirements of Method 21 at 40 C.F.R. Part 60,
Appendix A.
33.

Method 21, at 40 C.F.R. Part 60, Appendix A-7, Meth. 21, Section 8.3.1, requires

the owner or operator of an affected source to do as follows:
Place the probe inlet [of the portable instrument that is capable of detecting
emissions from equipment] at the surface of the component interface where
leakage could occur. Move the probe along the interface periphery while
observing the instrument readout. If an increased meter reading is observed,
slowly sample the interface where leakage is indicated until the maximum meter
reading is obtained. Leave the probe inlet at this maximum reading location for
approximately two times the instrument response time. If the maximum observed
meter reading is greater than the leak definition in the applicable regulation,
record and report the results [as a leaking component].
34.

With certain alternatives and exceptions not relevant here, under Subparts VV and

VVa—and therefore, under GGG and GGGa—each owner or operator is required to monitor
each valve on a monthly basis to detect leaks. 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.482-7(a)(1); 60.482-7a(a)(1).
35.

Under Subparts VV and VVa—and therefore, under GGG and GGGa— an “open-

ended valve or line” is defined as any valve, except safety relief valves, having one side of the
valve seat in contact with process fluid and one side open to atmosphere, either directly or
through open piping. 40 C.F.R. § 60.481.
36.

With certain alternatives and exceptions not relevant here, under Subparts VV and

VVa—and therefore, under GGG and GGGa—each owner or operator must equip each
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open-ended valve or line with a cap, blind flange, plug, or second valve. 40 C.F.R.
§§ 60.482-6(a)(1); 60.482-6a(a)(1).
37.

Under Subparts VV and VVa—and therefore, under GGG and GGGa—each

owner or operator must keep a list of the identification numbers for equipment that is subject to
the requirements of Subparts VV and VVa. 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.486(e)(1); 60.486a(e)(1).
38.

Under Subparts VV and VVa—and therefore, under GGG and GGGa—each

owner or operator may designate valves as “difficult to monitor,” 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.486(f)(2);
60.486a(f)(2), if the equipment meets the applicable requirements to satisfy that designation. 40
C.F.R. §§ 60.482-7(h); 60.482-7a(h).
39.

Under Subparts VV and VVa—and therefore, under GGG and GGGa—each

owner or operator may delay repair of a leaking piece of equipment based on certain standards.
40 C.F.R. §§ 60.482-9; 60.482-9a. In each semi-annual report due under Subparts VV and VVa,
each owner or operator must set forth the facts that explain each delay or repair and, where
appropriate, why a process unit shutdown was technically infeasible. 40 C.F.R.
§§ 60.487(c)(2)(vii); 60.487a(c)(2)(vii).
B.

NATIONAL EMISSION STANDARDS FOR HAZARDOUS AIR
POLLUTANTS
1.

40.

General: Section 112 prior to the 1990 CAA Amendments

Section 112 of the Clean Air Act sets forth a national program for the control of

hazardous air pollutants (“HAPs”). 42 U.S.C. § 7412. As originally promulgated in the Clean
Air Act Amendments of 1970, Section 112 directed EPA to publish a list of HAPs. A HAP was
defined as “an air pollutant to which no ambient air quality standard is applicable and which in
the judgment of the Administrator may cause, or contribute to, an increase in mortality or an
increase in serious irreversible, or incapacitating reversible, illness.” 42 U.S.C. § 1857c-7
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(1971). At that time, Congress directed EPA to establish HAP standards that provided “an ample
margin of safety to protect the public health from such hazardous air pollutant.” Id.
41.

Between 1970 and 1990, EPA listed eight substances as hazardous air pollutants

and promulgated emission standards for seven of them. H.R. Rep. No. 101-490, 101st Cong., 2d
Sess., pt 1 at 151 (1990).
2.
42.

Part 61, Subpart FF: 40 C.F.R. §§ 61.340–61.359

Pursuant to Section 112 as it existed prior to the CAA Amendments of 1990, EPA

listed benzene as a hazardous air pollutant and promulgated standards related to the control of
benzene in waste operations. 55 Fed. Reg. 8292 (March 7, 1990). Thereafter, in 1993, EPA
finalized the regulations, 58 Fed. Reg. 3072 (January 7, 1993), and published them at 40 C.F.R.
Part 61, Subpart FF. 40 C.F.R. §§ 61.340-61.359. These regulations commonly are referred to
as the “Benzene Waste Operations NESHAP” or “Subpart FF.”
43.

Subpart FF applies, inter alia, to petroleum refineries. 40 C.F.R. § 61.340(a).

44.

Under Subpart FF, the facility is required to tabulate the “total annual benzene

(“TAB”) content in its wastewater. If the TAB is over 10 megagrams (“Mg”), the refinery is
required to elect a control option that will require the control of all waste streams, or control of
certain selected waste streams. 40 C.F.R. § 61.342.
45.

Under the control option known as the “2 Mg Option,” a facility must control all

benzene-containing wastes except for up to 2 Mg of aqueous benzene-containing wastes. Under
Subpart FF, at 40 C.F.R. § 61.342(c), “[e]ach owner or operator of a facility at which the total
annual benzene quantity from facility waste is equal to or greater than 10 Mg/yr (11 ton/yr) . . .
may elect to manage and treat the facility waste as follows:
(1)

For each waste stream that contains benzene, including (but not limited to)
organic waste streams that contain less than 10 percent water and aqueous waste
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streams, even if the wastes are not discharged to an individual drain system, the
owner or operator shall
(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Remove or destroy the benzene contained in the waste using a treatment
process or wastewater treatment system that complies with the standards
specified in § 61.348 of this subpart.
Comply with the standards specified in §§ 61.343 through 61.347 of this
subpart for each waste management unit that receives or manages the
waste stream prior to and during treatment of the waste stream in
accordance with paragraph (c)(1)(i) of this section.
Each waste management unit used to manage or treat waste streams that
will be recycled to a process shall comply with the standards specified in
§§ 61.343 through 61.347. Once the waste stream is recycled to a process,
including to a tank used for the storage of production process feed,
product, or product intermediates, unless this tank is used primarily for the
storage of wastes, the material is no longer subject to paragraph (c) of this
section.

(2)

A waste stream is exempt from paragraph (c)(1) of this section provided that the
owner or operator demonstrates initially and, thereafter, at least once per year that
the flow-weighted annual average benzene concentration for the waste stream is
less than 10 ppmw as determined by the procedures specified in § 61.355(c)(2) or
§61.355(c)(3).

(3)

A waste stream is exempt from paragraph (c)(1) of this section provided that the
owner or operator demonstrates initially and, thereafter, at least once per year that
the conditions specified in either paragraph (c)(3)(i) or (c)(3)(ii) of this section are
met.
(i)

The waste stream is process wastewater that has a flow rate less than 0.02
liters per minute (0.005 gallons per minute) or an annual wastewater
quantity of less than 10 Mg/yr (11 ton/yr); or

(ii)

All of the following conditions are met:
(A) The owner or operator does not choose to exempt process wastewater
under paragraph (c)(3)(i) of this section,
(B) The total annual benzene quantity in all waste streams chosen for
exemption in paragraph (c)(3)(ii) of this section does not exceed 2.0
Mg/yr (2.2 ton/yr) as determined in the procedures in § 61.355(j), and
(C) The total annual benzene quantity in a waste stream chosen for
exemption, including process unit turnaround waste, is determined for
the year in which the waste is generated.
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46.

“40 C.F.R. § 61.05(c) prohibits any owner or operator subject to the BWON from

operating an existing regulated source in violation of its requirements.”
3.
47.

General: Section 112 of the CAA after the 1990 CAA Amendments

Through the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990, Congress replaced the

then-existing Section 112 and established a new program for the control of HAPs. H.R. Rep.
No. 101-490, 101st Cong., 2d Sess., pt 1 at 324 (1990). The regulations then in existence under
the original Section 112 (such as the Benzene Waste Operations NESHAP at 40 C.F.R. Part 61,
Subpart FF described above) remained in full force and effect.
48.

With the 1990 amendments, Congress itself established a list of 188 hazardous air

pollutants believed to cause adverse health or environmental effects. 42 U.S.C. § 7412(b)(1).
49.

Congress directed EPA to publish a list of all categories and subcategories of,

inter alia, major sources of HAPs. 42 U.S.C. § 7412(c).
50.

“Major source” was and is defined as any stationary source or group of stationary

sources located within a contiguous area and under common control that emits or has the
potential to emit considering controls, in the aggregate, 10 tons per year or more of any HAP or
25 tons per year or more of any combination of HAPs. 42 U.S.C. § 7412(a)(1).
51.

“Stationary source” was and is defined as any building, structure, facility, or

installation which emits or may emit any air pollutant. 42 U.S.C. § 7412(a)(3) (stating that
“stationary source” under Section 112(a) has the same meaning as that term has under
Section 111(a) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7411(a)(3)).
52.

A “category” of sources is a group of sources having some common features

suggesting that they should be regulated in the same way and on the same schedule. 57 Fed.
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Reg. 31576, 31578 (July 16, 1992). A single stationary source can be comprised of multiple
source categories. Id.
53.

Congress directed EPA to promulgate regulations establishing emission standards

for each category or subcategory of, inter alia, major sources of HAPs. 42 U.S.C. § 7412(d)(1).
These emission standards must require the maximum degree of reduction in emissions of HAPs
that the Administrator, taking into consideration the cost of achieving such emission reduction,
and any non-air quality health and environmental impacts and energy requirements, determines
is achievable for the new or existing sources in the category or subcategory to which the
emission standard applies. 42 U.S.C. § 7412(d)(2).
54.

To the extent that it is not feasible to prescribe or enforce an emission standard for

the control of a HAP, Congress authorized EPA to promulgate “design, equipment, work
practice, or operational” standards, which are to be treated as emission standards.
42 U.S.C. § 7412(h).
55.

The emission standards promulgated under Section 112 of the 1990 Amendments

of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412, are known as the National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air
Pollutants (“NESHAPs”) for Source Categories or “MACT” (“maximum achievable control
technology”) standards. These emission standards are found in Part 63 of Title 40 of the Code of
Federal Regulations.
56.

After the effective date of any emission standard, limitation, or regulation

promulgated pursuant to Section 112 of the CAA, no person may operate a source in violation of
such standard, limitation, or regulation. 42 U.S.C. § 7412(i)(3).
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4.
57.

Part 63, Subpart A: General

Pursuant to Section 112 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412, as it existed after the 1990

CAA Amendments, EPA promulgated regulations that contain general provisions applicable to
sources that are subject to the MACT standards of Part 63 of Title 40 of the Code of Federal
Regulations. 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart A, §§ 63.1–63.16 (“Subpart A”).
58.

Under Subpart A, the provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 63 “apply to the owner or

operator of any stationary source that (i) emits or has the potential to emit any hazardous air
pollutant listed in or pursuant to section 112(b) of the Act; and (ii) is subject to any standard,
limitation, prohibition, or other federally enforceable requirement established pursuant to this
part.” 40 C.F.R. § 63.1(b).
59.

Under Subpart A, each relevant standard in Part 63 must identify explicitly

whether each provision in Subpart A is or is not included in such relevant standard. 40 C.F.R.
§ 63.1(a)(4)(i).
5.
60.

Part 63 Subpart A: 40 C.F.R. § 63.6(e)(1)(i)

Within Subpart A of Part 63, EPA promulgated a requirement that corresponds to

the “good air pollution control practices” requirement of Subpart A of the NSPS (i.e. 40 C.F.R.
§ 60.11(d)). Specifically, at all times, including periods of startup, shutdown, and malfunction,
the owner or operator must operate and maintain any affected source, including associated air
pollution control equipment, in a manner consistent with safety and good air pollution control
practices for minimizing emissions. 40 C.F.R. § 63.6(e)(1)(i).
6.

61.

Part 63, Subpart A: 40 C.F.R. § 63.11(b) (Requirements related to
Flares Used as Control Devices)

Within Subpart A of Part 63, EPA promulgated specific regulations that apply

whenever flares are used as control devices. 40 C.F.R. § 63.11(b).
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62.

Of relevance to this Complaint are the requirements that: (1) for steam-assisted

flares, the net heating value of the gas being combusted must be 300 British Thermal Units
(“BTU”) per standard cubic foot (“scf”) or greater, 40 C.F.R. § 63.11(b)(6)(ii); and (2) an owner
or operator monitor a flare to ensure that it is operated and maintained in conformance with its
design. 40 C.F.R. § 63.11(b)(1).
7.
63.

Specific MACT Standards: Part 63, Subpart CC

Pursuant to Section 112(c) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(c), EPA identified

petroleum refineries as a source category of HAPs. 57 Fed. Reg. 31576, 31591 (Table 1) (July
16, 1992).
64.

Pursuant to Section 112(d) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(d), EPA promulgated

the National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants from Petroleum Refineries. 60
Fed. Reg. 43260 (August 18, 1995). These standards are commonly referred to as the “Refinery
MACT” and are found at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart CC, §§ 63.640–63.656 and associated
Tables.
65.

Of relevance to this Complaint, the affected sources that Subpart CC applies to

are all “miscellaneous process vents” and “equipment leaks” from petroleum refining process
units that are located at a plant site that is a major source and that emit or have equipment
containing or contacting one or more of the HAPs listed in a table associated with Subpart CC.
40 C.F.R. §§ 63.640(c)(1), (c)(4).
66.

Under Subpart CC, owners or operators of certain types of process vents must

reduce emissions of organic HAPs from these vents by using either: (1) a flare that meets the
requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 63.11(b), 40 C.F.R. § 63.643(a)(1); or (2) a different type of control
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device that reduces organic HAPs by 98 weight percent or to a concentration of 20 ppmv.
40 C.F.R. § 63.643(a)(2).
67.

Under Subpart CC, owners and operators must comply with the equipment leak

provisions of Subpart VV, which requires compliance with 40 C.F.R. § 60.18. 40 C.F.R.
§ 63.648(a).
68.

Pursuant to Table 6 of Subpart CC, with certain exceptions that are not applicable

here, owners or operators of affected facilities under Subpart CC are required to comply with
40 C.F.R. §§ 63.6(e) and 63.11(b).
8.
69.

Specific MACT Standards: Part 63, Subpart UUU

Pursuant to Section 112(d) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7412(d), and several years

after promulgating Subpart CC, EPA promulgated Subpart UUU: the “National Emission
Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants from Petroleum Refineries: Catalytic Cracking Units,
Catalytic Reforming Units, and Sulfur Recovery Units.” These standards are commonly referred
to as the “Refinery MACT II” standards and are found at 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart UUU,
§§ 63.1560–1579 and associated Tables.
70.

The affected sources that Subpart UUU applies to are process vents or groups of

process vents on catalytic reforming units or catalytic cracking units that are associated with the
regeneration of the catalyst used in the unit, process vents or groups of process vents on sulfur
recovery plant units or the tail gas treatment units serving sulfur recovery plants that are
associated with sulfur recovery, and bypass lines serving catalytic cracking units, catalytic
reforming units, and sulfur recovery units, if the unit is located at a petroleum refinery that is a
major source of HAP emissions. 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.1561(a) and 63.1562(b).
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71.

Under Subpart UUU, owners or operators of process vents on affected sources

have two compliance options for controlling emissions, one of which requires venting emissions
to a flare that meets the control device requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 63.11(b). 40 C.F.R.
§ 63.1566(a)(1)(i).
72.

Under Subpart UUU, owners or operators of affected sources are required to

submit certain reports. 40 C.F.R. § 63.1575(a).
73.

Subpart UUU requires that, for each deviation from an emission limitation that

occurs at an affected source when a CEMS is not used to comply with the emission limitation,
the compliance report must contain the total operating time of each affected source during the
reporting period and information on the number, duration, and cause for monitor downtime
incidents (including unknown cause, if applicable, other than downtime associated with zero and
span and other daily calibration checks). 40 C.F.R. § 63.1575(d).
74.

Subpart UUU requires that, for each deviation from an emission limitation which

occurs at an affected source using a CEMS to comply with the emission limitation, the
compliance report must contain specific information on the CEMS operation, including: the date
and time that each CEMS was inoperative or out-of-control; the date and time each deviation and
malfunction started and stopped; the total duration of deviation during the reporting period,
including the total duration of deviation as a percent of total source operating time; a breakdown
of the total duration of deviations into those due to startup, shutdown, control equipment
problems, process problems, other known causes, or other unknown causes; a summary of the
total downtime for the CEMS and the total duration of downtime as a percent of total operating
time; a breakdown of the total duration of downtime for the CEMS into periods due to
monitoring equipment malfunctions, non-monitoring equipment malfunctions, quality
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assurance/quality control calibrations, other known causes, and other unknown causes; an
identification of each HAP monitored at the source; a brief description of the process units; the
monitoring equipment manufacturer(s) and model number(s); the date of the latest certification
audit for the CEMS; and a description of any change in the CEMS, processes or controls since
the previous reporting period. 40 C.F.R. § 63.1575(e).
75.

Subpart UUU requires that each compliance report must include a copy of any

performance test done during the reporting period on any affected unit. 40 C.F.R. § 63.1575(f).
76.

Pursuant to Table 44 of Subpart UUU, owners and operators of affected facilities

under Subpart UUU are required to comply with 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.6(e)(1) and 63.11(b).
C.

TITLE V

77.

Title V of the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7661–7661f, establishes an operating

permit program for certain sources, including major sources, sources subject to Sections 111
(NSPS program) or 112 (NESHAP/MACT program) of the CAA, or any source required to have
a PSD or Nonattainment NSR Permit. 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a). The purpose of Title V is to ensure
that all “applicable requirements” that a source is subject to under the CAA, including SIP
requirements, are collected in one permit. 42 U.S.C. § 7661c(a).
78.

Pursuant to Section 502(b) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(b), EPA promulgated

regulations implementing the requirements of Title V and establishing the minimum elements of
a Title V permit program to be administered by any state or local air pollution control agency.
57 Fed. Reg. 32250 (July 21, 1992). These regulations are codified at 40 C.F.R. Part 70.
79.

Ohio has an EPA-approved Title V program. 60 Fed. Reg. 42045 (August 15,

1995). Ohio’s Title V Permit program requirements are codified at Ohio Administrative Code
3745-77. Ohio is authorized to issue and enforce Title V permits. In all respects relevant to this
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Complaint, the Title V regulations of Ohio closely mirror the federal Title V regulations codified
at 40 C.F.R. Part 70.
80.

Section 502(a) of the CAA (42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a)) and the Title V permit program

and regulations of Ohio provide that, after the effective date of the state Title V permit program,
no person may violate any requirement of a Title V permit.
81.

Section 502(a) of the CAA (42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a)), the implementing regulations

at 40 C.F.R. §§ 70.1(b) and 70.7(b), and the Title V permit program and regulations of Illinois
provide that, after the effective date of the state Title V permit program, no source subject to
Title V may operate except in compliance with a Title V permit.
82.

Section 503(c) of the CAA (42 U.S.C. § 7661b(c)), the implementing regulations

at 40 C.F.R. § 70.5(a), and the Title V permit program and regulations of Ohio provide that each
owner and operator of a source subject to Title V permitting requirements must submit a permit
application. Among other things, the permit application must contain: (i) information sufficient
to determine all applicable air pollution control requirements (including any requirement to
comply with the applicable NSPS and/or NESHAP/MACT standards), 40 C.F.R. § 70.5(c)(4);
(ii) information that may be necessary to determine the applicability of other applicable
requirements of the CAA, 40 C.F.R. § 70.5(c)(5); (iii) a compliance plan for all applicable
requirements for which the source is not in compliance, 42 U.S.C. § 7661b(b), 40 C.F.R.
§ 70.5(c)(8); and (iv) a certification of compliance with all applicable requirements by a
responsible official. 40 C.F.R. § 70.5(c)(9).
83.

Under 40 C.F.R. § 70.5(b) and the Title V permit program and regulations of

Ohio, any applicant who fails to submit any relevant facts or who has submitted incorrect
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information in a permit application must, upon becoming aware of such failure or incorrect
submittal, promptly submit such supplementary facts or corrected information.
84.

Section 504(a) of the CAA (42 U.S.C. § 7661c(a)), the implementing regulations

at 40 C.F.R. § 70.6(a) and (c), and the Title V permit programs and regulations of Ohio requires
each Title V permit to include, inter alia, enforceable emission limitations and standards, a
schedule of compliance, and such other conditions as are necessary to assure compliance with all
applicable requirements of the CAA, including the requirements of the applicable SIP.
85.

All terms and conditions of a Title V permit are enforceable by EPA. 42 U.S.C.

§ 7413(b); 40 C.F.R. § 70.6(b).
D.

ENFORCEMENT OF THE CAA

86.

Sections 113(a)(1) and (a)(3) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7413(a)(1) and (a)(3),

authorize EPA to bring a civil action under Section 113(b) if EPA finds that any person is in
violation of any requirement or prohibition of a SIP, the NSPS program, the NESHAP/MACT
program, the Title V permit program, or a Title V permit.
87.

Section 113(b) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), authorizes the Court to enjoin a

violation, to require compliance, to assess and recover a civil penalty, and to award any other
appropriate relief for each violation.
88.

Section 113(b) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), authorizes civil penalties of up

to $25,000 per day for each violation of the CAA.
89.

The Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, 28 U.S.C. § 2461 et seq., as amended

by the Debt Collection Improvements Act of 1996, 31 U.S.C. § 3701 et seq., as amended by the
Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act Improvement Act of 2015, 28 U.S.C. § 2461
note, Pub. L. 114-74, requires EPA to periodically adjust its civil penalties for inflation.
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Pursuant to those statutory mandates, EPA has adopted and revised regulations entitled
“Adjustment of Civil Monetary Penalties for Inflation,” 40 C.F.R. Part 19, to upwardly adjust the
maximum civil penalty under the CAA. Of relevance to this Complaint, for each violation that
occurred between March 16, 2004, and January 12, 2009, inclusive, penalties of up to $32,500
per day may be assessed; for each violation that occurred between January 13, 2009, and
November 2, 2015, inclusive, penalties of up to $37,500 per day may be assessed; and for each
violation that occurs after November 2, 2015, where penalties are assessed on and after
January 15, 2018, penalties of up to $97,229 per day may be assessed. 40 C.F.R. § 19.4.
CLEAN AIR ACT CLAIMS: 1–5
General Allegations
90.

TRC is the “owner or operator,” within the meaning of the CAA, of the Toledo

Refinery.
91.

The Toledo Refinery is a “major emitting facility,” a “source,” a “stationary

source,” a “major stationary source,” and a “major source” within the meaning of the CAA, the
NSPS program and regulations, the NESHAP/MACT program and regulations, the Title V
program and regulations, and the Ohio SIP that adopts, incorporates, and/or implements these
programs and regulations.
92.

The Toledo Refinery has a Title V permit that has been issued by the State of

93.

TRC owns and operates a catalytic cracking unit, two catalytic reforming units,

Ohio.

two sulfur recovery units, and two flares known as the Plant 4 Flare (P009) and the Plant 9 Flare
(P008) (“Flares”).
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94.

A flare is a combustion device that uses an uncontrolled volume of ambient air to

burn gases.
95.

A steam-assisted flare is a flare that utilizes steam piped to the flare tip to assist in

combustion.
CLAIM 1
Violation of NSPS and NESHAP/MACT Subpart A Requirement related to Flares;
Violation of Title V Permit Provisions that Implement and Enforce these Requirements
Failure to Operate Two Flares in a Manner Consistent with
Good Air Pollution Control Practices
96.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1– 95 as if fully set

forth herein.
97.

TRC is the owner and operator of Two Flares as identified in Paragraph 93. Each

of TRC’s Two Flares is an “affected facility” within the meaning of 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.2,
60.100(a), and 60.100a(1), and therefore is or was subject to: (i) the General Provisions of the
NSPS found at Subpart A; (ii) NSPS Subpart J (40 C.F.R. §§ 60.100–109) and Subpart Ja (40
C.F.R. §§ 60.100a–109a); and (iii) the requirements in the Toledo Refinery’s Title V permit that
compel compliance with the NSPS Subparts A and J.
98.

Each of TRC’s Two Flares is also used as a control device for compliance with 40

C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart CC. Under Subpart CC, these Two Flares are subject to certain general
provisions of Part 63 found at Subpart A, including § 63.6(e)(1)(i).
99.

Each of TRC’s Two Flares is also used as a control device for compliance with

C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart UUU. Under Subpart UUU, these Two Flares are subject to certain
general provisions of Part 63 found at Subpart A, including § 63.6(e)(1)(i).
100.

Under 40 C.F.R. § 60.11(d) (found in Subpart A of Part 60) and 40 C.F.R.

§ 63.6(e)(1)(i) (found in Subpart A of Part 63), TRC was and is required, at all times, including
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periods of startup, shutdown, and malfunction, to the extent practicable, to maintain and operate
its Two Flares in a manner consistent with good air pollution control practice for minimizing
emissions.
101.

Good air pollution control practices for minimizing emissions at flares involve,

inter alia, combusting essentially all molecules of hydrogen sulfide, hydrocarbons, and
hazardous air pollutants (“HAPs”) in the gases sent to the flares by ensuring that they have
sufficient heating value and oxygen to allow for complete combustion. For steam-assisted flares,
good air pollution control practices for minimizing emissions also involve, inter alia, injecting
steam at a rate that maximizes flame stability and flare combustion efficiency. For air-assisted
flares, good air pollution control practices for minimizing emissions also involve adjusting the
rate of introduction of air that is assisting combustion (“Assist Air”) based on Vent Gas flow.
102.

In order to ensure that the gases sent to flares have sufficient heating value to

ensure complete combustion, good air pollution control practices for minimizing emissions at
flares involve, inter alia, monitoring, measuring, and/or calculating the net heating value
(“NHV”) of the gases in the combustion zone (“Combustion Zone Gas”) of a flare. In addition,
supplemental gas must be immediately available for addition to the gas being sent to the flare
(the “Vent Gas”) to ensure that the NHV of the Combustion Zone Gas is maintained at a level
that ensures adequate flare combustion efficiency.
103.

Good air pollution control practices for minimizing emissions at steam-assisted

flares involve, inter alia, monitoring the Vent Gas flow rate and steam flow rate to the flare,
calculating the ratio of the Vent Gas flow rate to the steam flow rate (“S/VG”), and having
sufficient controls on the steam flow rate to enable increasing or decreasing it in order to
optimize S/VG to minimize emissions.
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104.

Good air pollution control practices for minimizing emissions at air-assisted flares

involve, inter alia, monitoring the Vent Gas flow rate and the Assist Air flow rate to the flare and
having sufficient controls on the Assist Air flow rate to enable increasing or decreasing it in
order to optimize combustion efficiency.
105.

On numerous occasions from at least March 1, 2011, through March 24, 2013,

TRC operated one or both of its Two Steam-Assisted Flares with an excessively high S/VG.
This excessively high S/VG increased the likelihood of flame quenching, reduced flare
combustion efficiency, and resulted in emissions of uncombusted hydrogen sulfide, uncombusted
and partially-combusted HAPs and hydrocarbons (including VOCs), and carbon monoxide. On
information and belief, these failures continued past March 2013.
106.

On numerous occasions from at least March 1, 2011 through March 24, 2013,

TRC operated one or both of its Two Flares without sufficient Net Heating Value in the
Combustion Zone Gas. This insufficient NHV reduced flare combustion efficiency and resulted
in emissions to the atmosphere of uncombusted hydrogen sulfide, uncombusted and
partially-combusted HAPs and hydrocarbons (including VOCs), and carbon monoxide. On
information and belief, these failures continued past March 2013.
107.

From at least March 1, 2011 through March 24, 2013, TRC failed to install, or

failed to utilize properly, Vent Gas flow monitors and steam flow monitors on one or both of its
Two Flares; failed to calculate S/VG at one or both of its Two Flares; and failed to have
sufficient controls on steam flow to maintain an S/VG that minimized emissions at one or both of
its Two Flares. On information and belief, these failures continued past March 2013.
108.

From at least March 1, 2011 through March 24, 2013, TRC failed to have, or

failed to utilize, any equipment or monitoring system on one or both of its Two Flares to enable

24

Case: 3:19-cv-00232 Doc #: 1 Filed: 01/30/19 25 of 35. PageID #: 25

TRC to calculate the NHV in the Combustion Zone Gas of its Two Flares. In addition, TRC
failed to have supplemental gas immediately available for addition to the Vent Gas. On
information and belief, these failures continued past March 2013.
109.

TRC’s operation of one or both of its Two Flares with an insufficient NHV in the

Combustion Zone Gas, without monitoring the NHV in the Combustion Zone Gas, without
supplemental gas immediately available, with excessively high Steam-to-Vent-Gas ratios,
without any (or without sufficient) monitors to measure and calculate S/VG, and without
sufficient controls on its steam to optimize the steam injection rate, violated the requirement to
operate one or both of the Two Flares in a manner consistent with good air pollution control
practices for minimizing emissions.
110.

The acts and omissions identified in this Claim constitute violations of:

(a)

Sections 111 and 112 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7411, 7412;

(b)

Section 111’s and 112’s implementing regulations at 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.11(d) and
63.6(e)(1)(i) (good air pollution control practices requirement in Subpart A of
Part 60 (NSPS) and Part 63 (NESHAP/MACT));

(c)

Section 112’s implementing regulations at Table 6 of Subpart CC of Part 63 of
Title 40 of the Code of Federal Regulations, insofar as that Table relates to flares
and requires compliance with 40 C.F.R. § 63.6(e)(1)(i);

(d)

Section 112’s implementing regulations at Table 44 of Subpart UUU of Part 63 of
Title 40 of the Code of Federal Regulations, insofar as that Table relates to flares
and requires compliance with 40 C.F.R. § 63.6(e)(1)(i);

(e)

Those provisions of Toledo Refinery’s Title V Permit that require compliance
with the statutory and regulatory requirements identified in
Subparagraphs 110(a)–(d);

(f)

The prohibitions against violating the terms of a Title V permit, which are found
at 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a) and 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b); and

(g)

The OEPA provisions that implement and enforce any of the federal provisions
cited in Subparagraphs (a)–(f).

25

Case: 3:19-cv-00232 Doc #: 1 Filed: 01/30/19 26 of 35. PageID #: 26

111.

Unless restrained by an Order of the Court, these violations of the CAA and its

implementing regulations will continue.
112.

For the violations asserted in this Claim, pursuant to Section 113(b) of the CAA,

42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), and the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, as amended, TRC is subject
to injunctive relief, mitigation of the effects of excess emissions, and civil penalties of up to
$37,500 per day for each violation between January 12, 2009, and November 2, 2015; and up to
$97,229 per day for each violation after November 2, 2015.
CLAIM 2
Violation of an NSPS and NESHAP/MACT Subpart A Requirement related to Flares;
Violation of Title V Permit Provisions that Implement and Enforce these Requirements
Failure to Monitor Two Flares to Ensure that They Are Operated and Maintained in
Conformance with their Design
113.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1–112, as if fully set

forth herein.
114.

Each of TRC’s Two Flares is subject to the requirements of 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.18(d)

and 63.11(b)(1). Under these provisions, TRC was and is required to monitor each flare to
ensure that it is operated and maintained in conformance with its design. Flares are designed, in
part, to achieve high combustion efficiency of VOCs.
115.

As part of its design, a steam-assisted flare must be operated within a

range of Steam-to-Vent-Gas ratios that, on the one hand, avoids smoking through an
insufficient S/VG, and, on the other hand, avoids excessive S/VG. Both insufficient and
excessive S/VG reduce VOC combustion efficiency below a flare’s designed efficiency.
116.

In order to operate a steam-assisted flare in conformance with its design, the Vent

Gas flow to the flare must be monitored; the steam flow to the flare must be monitored; the ratio
of the Vent Gas flow to steam flow must be calculated; and the steam flow must be subject to
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sufficient control to enable increasing or decreasing it in order to maintain a design-appropriate
S/VG and a high VOC combustion efficiency consistent with design parameters.
117.

From at least March 1, 2011 through March 24, 2013, for one or both of the Two

Flares, TRC failed to install and/or properly operate Vent Gas flow monitors and steam flow
monitors; failed to calculate Steam-to-Vent-Gas ratios; and failed to have sufficient controls on
steam flow to maintain Steam-to-Vent-Gas ratios within design parameters. On information and
belief, these failures continued past March 2013 at one or both of the Flares.
118.

The acts and omissions identified in this Claim constitute violations of:

(a)

Sections 111 and 112 of the CAA (42 U.S.C. §§ 7411, 7412);

(b)

Section 111’s and 112’s implementing regulations at 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.18(d),
63.11(b)(1);

(c)

Section 111’s implementing regulations at 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.592(a), 60.592a(a),
60.482-10(d), 60.482-10a(d), 60.482-10(e), and 60.482-10a(e) (relevant
provisions of NSPS’s Subparts GGG, GGGa, VV and VVa) insofar as they relate
to flares and require compliance with 40 C.F.R. § 60.18(d);

(d)

Section 112’s implementing regulations at 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.643(a)(1), 63.648(a),
and 63.1566(a)(1)(i) (relevant provisions of NESHAP/MACT’s Subparts CC and
UUU) insofar as they relate to flares and require compliance with 40 C.F.R.
§ 63.11(b)(1);

(e)

Those provisions of Toledo Refinery’s Title V Permit that requires compliance
with the statutory and regulatory requirements identified in Subparagraphs (a)–
(d);

(f)

The prohibitions against violating the terms of a Title V permit, which are found
at 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a) and 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b); and

(g)

The OEPA provisions that implement and enforce any of the federal provisions
cited in Subparagraphs (a)–(f).

119.

Unless restrained by an Order of the Court, these violations of the CAA and its

implementing regulations will continue.
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120.

For the violations asserted in this Claim, pursuant to Section 113(b) of the CAA,

42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), and the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, as amended, TRC is subject
to injunctive relief, mitigation of the effects of excess emissions, and civil penalties of up to
$37,500 per day for each violation between January 12, 2009, and November 2, 2015; and up to
$97,229 per day for each violation after November 2, 2015.
CLAIM 3
Violation of the Benzene Waste Operations NESHAP (40 C.F.R. Part 61, Subpart FF);
Violation of Title V Permit Provisions that Implement and Enforce these Requirements
Failure to Comply with Various Provisions of 40 C.F.R. Part 61, Subpart FF
121.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1–120 as if fully set

forth herein.
122.

The Toledo Refinery is a “petroleum refinery” within the meaning of the Benzene

Waste Operations NESHAP (“BWON”). 40 C.F.R. § 61.341. TRC is therefore subject to the
BWON. 40 C.F.R. § 61.340(a).
123.

TRC has elected to comply with the BWON by means of the option found at 40

C.F.R. § 61.342(c)(3)(ii) (the “2 Mg Option”).
124.

Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 61.342(c)(3)(ii), the benzene quantity for uncontrolled

benzene-containing wastes must be less than or equal to 2 Mg per year.
125.

At the Toledo Refinery in 2014, the total annual benzene quantity for all streams

chosen for exemption pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 61.642(c)(3)(ii) was 4.42 Mg.
126.

In 2014, the Toledo Refinery had an uncontrolled benzene quantity in excess of

the 2 Mg Option, in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 61.642(c) and 40 C.F.R. § 61.05(c).
127.

The acts and omissions identified in this Claim also constitute violations of:

(i) those provisions of the Toledo Refinery’s Title V permit that require compliance with the
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BWON provision identified in this Claim; (ii) the prohibitions against violating the terms of a
Title V permit, which are found at 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a) and 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b); and (iii) the
provisions found in the federally enforceable Ohio Title V program that correspond to the
prohibitions in 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a) and 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b).
128.

For the violations asserted in this Claim, pursuant to Section 113(b) of the CAA,

42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, as amended, TRC is subject to
mitigation of the effects of excess emissions and civil penalties of up to $32,500 per day for each
violation between March 16, 2004, and January 12, 2009 and up to $37,500 per day for each
violation between January 12, 2009, and November 2, 2015.
CLAIM 4
Violation of NSPS Subparts VV, VVa, GGG and GGGa Requirements Related to
Equipment Leaks;
Violation of Title V Permit Provisions that Implement and Enforce these Requirements
Failure to Comply with Specified Equipment Leak Requirements
129.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1–128, as if fully set

forth herein.
130.

At all times relevant to this Complaint, TRC has owned and operated process

units at the Toledo Refinery that are subject to the NSPS for Equipment Leaks of VOC in
Petroleum Refineries found at Subparts GGG and GGGa of 40 C.F.R. Part 60. 40 C.F.R.
§§ 60.590–60.593 (GGG); 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.590a–60.593a (GGGa).
131.

In relevant part, Subpart GGG and GGGa require facilities that are subject to

Subpart GGG and GGGa to comply with 40 C.F.R. Part 60, Subparts VV and VVa. 40 C.F.R.
§§ 60.592; 60.592a. Subpart VV is found at 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.480–60.489 and Subpart VVa is
found at 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.480a–60.489a.
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132.

On numerous occasions on and before September 2016, TRC failed to perform

Method 21 correctly, in violation of Section 111 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7411, and the
implementing regulations at 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.485(b)(1), 60.485a(b)(1), and Section 8.3.1 of
Method 21 of Appendix A-7 of 40 C.F.R. Part 60.
133.

On numerous occasions on and before July 2012, TRC failed to monitor insulated

components in accordance with Method 21, in violation of Section 111 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C.
§ 7411, and the implementing regulations at 40 C.F.R. §§ 60.485(b)(1), 60.485a(b)(1), and
Section 8.3.1 of Method 21 of Appendix A-7 of 40 C.F.R. Part 60.
134.

On numerous occasions on and before September 2016, TRC failed to seal all

open-ended lines using a cap, blind flange, plug, or second valve, in violation of 40 C.F.R. §
60.482-6(a)(2).
135.

On numerous occasions on and before July 2012, TRC failed to operate each

open-ended valve or line equipped with a second valve in a manner such that the valve on the
process fluid end is closed before the second valve is closed, in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 60.4826(b).
136.

By failing to comply with the requirements of NSPS Subparts VV, VVa, GGG

and GGGa, TRC also violated Section 111(e) of the CAA.
137.

On numerous occasions on and before September 2016, TRC failed to include

pieces of equipment in its LDAR program; failed to record the identification numbers of these
pieces of equipment; and failed to periodically monitor these pieces of equipment, in violation of
Section 111 of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7411, and the implementing regulations at 40 C.F.R.
§§ 60.486(e)(1); 60.482-7(a)(1); 60.482-2(a)(1); 60.486a(e)(1); 60.482-7a(a)(1); and
60.482-2a(a)(1).
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138.

The acts and omissions identified in this Claim also constitute violations of:

(i) those provisions of the Toledo Refinery’s Title V permit that require compliance with the
NSPS provisions identified in this Claim; (ii) the prohibitions against violating the terms of a
Title V permit, which are found at 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a) and 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b); and (iii) the
provisions found in the federally enforceable Ohio Title V program that correspond to the
prohibitions in 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a) and 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b).
139.

For the violations asserted in this Claim, pursuant to Section 113(b) of the CAA,

42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), and the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, TRC is subject to injunctive
relief, mitigation of the effects of excess emissions, and civil penalties of up to $32,500 per day
for each violation between March 16, 2004, and January 12, 2009; up to $37,500 per day for
each violation between January 12, 2009, and November 2, 2015; and up to $97,229 per day for
each violation after November 2, 2015.
CLAIM 5
Violation of NESHAP Subpart UUU Requirements Related to Reporting
Failure to Timely Submit Required Reports
140.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1–139, as if fully set

forth herein.
141.

At all times relevant to this Complaint, TRC has owned and operated a catalytic

cracking unit, two catalytic reforming units, and two sulfur recovery units at the Toledo Refinery
that are subject to 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart UUU.
142.

In relevant part, Subpart UUU requires facilities subject to this Subpart to submit

semi-annual compliance reports that include all of the information required by 40 C.F.R.
§ 63.1575(d)-(f).
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143.

TRC submitted semi-annual compliance reports for Subpart UUU on January 29,

2008, July 30, 2008, January 30, 2009, July 27, 2009, January 26, 2010, April 15, 2010, July 26,
2010, January 24, 2011, July 8, 2011, January 23, 2012, July 20, 2012, January 25, 2013, and
July 25, 2013.
144.

TRC failed to include all of the information required by 40 C.F.R. § 63.1575(d)-

(f) in each of its semi-annual reports, in violation of 40 C.F.R. § 63.1575(d)-(f).
145.

By failing to comply with the requirements of NESHAP Subpart UUU, TRC also

violated Section 112(e) of the CAA.
146.

The acts and omissions identified in this Claim also constitute violations of:

(i) those provisions of the Toledo Refinery’s Title V permit that require compliance with the
NESHAP provisions identified in this Claim; (ii) the prohibitions against violating the terms of a
Title V permit, which are found at 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a) and 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b); and (iii) the
provisions found in the federally enforceable Ohio Title V program that correspond to the
prohibitions in 42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a) and 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b).
147.

For the violations asserted in this Claim, pursuant to Section 113(b) of the CAA,

42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), and the Civil Penalties Inflation Act of 1990, TRC is subject to civil
penalties of up to $32,500 per day for each violation between March 16, 2004, and January 12,
2009; and up to $37,500 per day for each violation between January 12, 2009, and November 2,
2015.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, based upon the allegations in Paragraphs 1–147 of this Complaint, and
pursuant to Section 113(b) of the CAA, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), and the Civil Penalties Inflation
Act of 1990, as amended, Plaintiff requests that this Court:
1.

Permanently enjoin TRC from operating the Toledo Refinery except in

accordance with the CAA and all applicable federal regulations and applicable federally
enforceable state regulations;
2.

Order TRC to operate the Toledo Refinery in compliance with the CAA statutory

and regulatory requirements set forth herein, the applicable SIP requirements, and Title V permit
requirements applicable to the Toledo Refinery;
3.

Order TRC to take other appropriate actions to remedy, mitigate, and offset the

harm to public health and the environment caused by the violations of the CAA alleged herein;
4.

Assess a civil penalty against TRC of up to $32,500 for each violation of the CAA

occurring between March 16, 2004, and January 12, 2009; up to $37,500 per day for each
violation between January 12, 2009, and November 2, 2015; and up to $97,229 per day for each
violation after November 2, 2015.
5.

Award Plaintiff its costs of this action; and

6.

Grant such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.
Respectfully Submitted,
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

JEFFREY BOSSERT CLARK
Assistant Attorney General
Environment and Natural Resources Division
United States Department of Justice
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s/Arnold S. Rosenthal_________
ARNOLD S. ROSENTHAL
Senior Attorney
Environmental Enforcement Section
Environment and Natural Resources Division
Department of Justice
P.O. Box 7611
Washington, D.C. 20044-7611
(202) 514-3446
(202) 616-6584 (fax)
arnold.rosenthal@usdoj.gov

JUSTIN E. HERDMAN
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
s/ Guillermo J. Rojas
GUILLERMO J. ROJAS (0069882)
Assistant United States Attorney
Four Seagate, Suite 308
Toledo, OH 43604-2624
Phone: 419-259-6376; Fax: 419-259-6360
Guillermo.Rojas@usdoj.gov

OF COUNSEL:
WILLIAM WAGNER
MARY McAULIFFE
Associate Regional Counsels
U.S. EPA Region 5
77 W. Jackson Blvd.
Chicago, IL 60604
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 30th day of January, 2019, a copy of the foregoing
Complaint was filed electronically. Notice of this filing will be sent via electronic mail to
counsel for Toledo Refining Company, as follows:
Bart E. Cassidy
Manko, Gold, Katcher & Fox, LLP
401 City Avenue, Suite 901
Bala Cynwyd, PA 19004
bcassidy@mankogold.com

s/Arnold S. Rosenthal
Arnold S. Rosenthal
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